# RESTATED BYLAWS OF RIVER VISTA HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

(A Florida corporation not-for-profit)

This document is the restated Bylaws of River Vista Homeowners Association, Inc., which sets forth the Amended and Restated Bylaws recorded in the Public Records of St. Lucie County, Florida on February 24, 2005 at Official Records Book 2170, Page 2184 et. seq. and the amendment thereto recorded on March 9, 2020 at Official Records Book 4393, Page 1027.

The purpose of these Amended and Restated By-Laws is to continue the purposes of the By-Laws as originally enacted.

# ARTICLE I IDENTITY

A. The name of this corporation is RIVER VISTA HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC., a Florida corporation not-for-profit (hereinafter referred to as "The Association").

The address of the Association is Post Office Box 8103, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34985-8103, or such address as may be determined by the Board of Directors of the Association from time to time.

The seal of the Association shall bear the name of the Association, the word "Florida", the words "Corporation not-for-profit" and the year of the incorporation, an impression of which is as follows:

# ARTICLE II PURPOSES

This Association is organized for the purpose of functioning as the homeowner's association for River Vista, in accordance with the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for River Vista (hereinafter referred to as "The Declaration"). It is organized to serve as the instrumentality of property owners within River Vista for the purpose of controlling and regulating residential development thereof; of promoting, assisting and providing adequate and proper maintenance of certain property within River Vista for the benefit of owners; of exercising all powers and discharging all responsibilities granted to it as a corporation under the laws of the State of Florida, its Articles of Incorporation, these By-Laws, the aforementioned Declaration; to acquire, hold, convey and otherwise engage in and with real and/or personal property in the Association's capacity as a homeowners' association and to otherwise engage in such additional lawful activities for the benefit, use, convenience and enjoyment of its members as it may deem proper.

### ARTICLE III MEMBERSHIP AND VOTING

- Every person or entity shall automatically become a member of the Association upon the acquisition of fee simple record title to any residential property located within River Vista which is subject to assessment by the Association, pursuant to covenants of record. River Vista is situated in St. Lucie County, Florida, and is more particularly described in Exhibits "A" and "B" attached hereto. Membership shall continue until such time as the member transfers or convevs interest of record or said interest is transferred and conveyed by operation of law at which time membership, with respect to the property conveyed, shall automatically be conferred upon the transferee, subject to the approval of the Association as indicated in the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions. Membership shall be as indicated in the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions. Membership shall be appurtenant to, and may not be separated from, ownership of property subject to the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, persons or entities who hold an interest in property within River Vista only as security for the performance of an obligation shall not be members of the Association. By subjecting additional property to the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions, the Association (as defined in the Declaration) may cause additional members in the Association.
- B. The Association shall have one (1) class of voting membership. Each member shall be entitled to one (1) vote for each single family residential parcel. When more than one (1) person holds the ownership interest required for membership, all such persons shall be members and the vote for such property shall be exercised as they among themselves determine; provided, however, that in no event shall more than one (1) vote be cast with respect to each Unit. If property is owned by a corporation it shall designate one of its shareholders or officers to represent it as a member.
- C. No member shall have any vested right, interest or privilege in or to the assets, functions, affairs or franchise of the Association, or any right, interest or privilege which may be transferable, or which shall continue after his membership ceases or while he is not in good standing. A member shall be considered "not in good standing" during any period of time in which he is delinquent in the payment of any assessment, if he is in violation of any provision of the Declaration or if he is in violation of any rules or regulations promulgated by the Association. The Association may suspend, for a reasonable period of time, the rights of a member or member's tenants, guests or invitees, or both, to use the common areas and facilities, and may suspend the voting rights of a member in accordance with Section 720.305, Florida Statutes (2004), as amended from time to time.

# ARTICLE IV MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

A. <u>Annual Meeting</u>. There shall be an annual meeting of the members of the Association on such date and at such time and place in St. Lucie County as may be

designated by the Board of Directors. If the meeting date shall fall on a legal holiday, it shall be held on the next succeeding business day which is not a legal holiday. The purpose of the meeting shall be the transaction of such business as may come before the membership. Notice shall be required for the annual meeting as provided for in Section 720.306, Florida Statutes (2004), as amended from time to time.

- B. <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special Meetings shall be held whenever called by the Board of Directors or by a petition signed by at least a majority of the outstanding votes in the Association. Written notice of the special meeting stating the time, place and purpose thereof shall be served upon or mailed to each member entitled to vote at least ten (10) days, and no more than sixty (60) days, prior to such meeting.
- C. A quorum for the transaction of business at the annual meeting or any special meeting shall consist of thirty percent (30%) of the total voting interests of the Association, or any such number of members as may be required by Section 720.306, Florida Statutes (2004), as amended from time to time; provided, however, that the members present at any meeting, although less than a quorum, may adjourn the meeting to a future date.
- D. When a quorum is present at any meeting a majority of the outstanding votes of the Association present, either in person or by proxy, shall decide any question brought before the meeting unless the Declaration, these By-Laws or any applicable statute provides otherwise.
- E. Votes may be cast in person or by proxy. Proxies must be filed with the Secretary of the Association prior to the meeting. A proxy shall be valid and entitle the holder thereof to vote until revoked in writing by the grantor, which revocation must be filed with the Secretary. A proxy is effective only for the specific meeting for which it was originally given, as the meeting may be lawfully adjourned and reconvened from time to time, and automatically expires ninety (90) days after the date of the meeting for which it was originally given.

#### ARTICLE V BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- A. The affairs of the Association shall be managed by a Board of Directors which shall consist of five (5) members, who must be eligible to serve as provided in the Articles of Incorporation of the Association. Directors shall be elected at the annual members' meeting, and shall serve staggered two (2) year terms. The members of the Board shall serve without compensation, but shall be reimbursed for travel or other necessary and approved expenses.
- B. Any vacancy in the membership of the Board due to death, resignation or other cause shall be filled by majority vote of the Board and any director appointed to fill a vacancy, shall serve to the end of the term of the position vacated.
  - C. The Board shall establish the following committees:

- 1. An Architectural Review Board consisting of three (3) persons, at least one of whom shall be a member of the Board of Directors. This Committee shall meet periodically, as it determines necessary, in order to monitor the architectural and landscaping control within St. Lucie County and to enforce the architectural and landscaping control requirements contained in the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions. The Committee shall approve or disapprove all building and landscaping plans and specifications proposed by homeowners with River Vista. The Committee shall be empowered to establish such procedures as it may deem necessary to the accomplishment of its purposes.
- 2. The Board may establish such other committees as deemed necessary from time to time.
- D. <u>Annual Meeting</u>. The annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held immediately following the adjournment of the annual meeting of members.
- E. <u>Special Meeting</u>. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the President or a majority of the members of the Board. Notice of all such meetings must be given to each Director personally or by mail, telephone or electronic mail, and posted in a conspicuous place in the community as provided below except in an emergency. The notice shall state the time, place and purpose of the meeting.
- F. <u>Emergency Meetings</u>. Any member of the Board, or the President, may call a meeting, without notice, for the purpose of considering any matter deemed to be an emergency.
- G. Any meeting of the Board may be held by a telephone conference at which each member may hear and be heard by all other members.
- H. At all meetings of the Board a majority of the members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and the acts of a majority of the members present at such meeting shall be the acts of the Board except where approval by a greater number is required by the Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation or these By-Laws.
- I. Any action required to be taken at a meeting of the Board may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing setting forth the action to be taken and signed by all members of the Board is filed in the minutes of the proceedings of the Board. Such consent shall have the same effect as a unanimous vote.
- J. At all meetings of the Board, the President of the Association, or in his absence, the Vice-President, or in the absence of both, a chairman chosen from among the members of the Board shall preside.
- K. Subsequent to the closing of the fiscal year of the Association, and prior to the annual meeting of the members, the Board of Directors shall submit to the members

a written report as to the condition of the Association including an account of the financial transactions during the preceding fiscal year.

- L. The Board shall determine the order of business at its meetings.
- M. Open Meetings. All meetings of the Board of Directors shall be open to all members, except for meetings between the Board and its attorney. Any member attending a meeting of the Board of Directors may speak on any matter placed on the agenda for a maximum of three (3) minutes, unless a longer time is authorized by the Board, as provided by Florida Statute §720.303(2004), as amended from time to time. The Association may adopt additional written rules governing the frequency, duration and other manner of member statements at Board Meetings.
- N. Posted Notice. Notices of all Board Meetings must be posted in a conspicuous place in the community at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance of a meeting, except in an emergency, as provided by Florida Statute §720.303(2)(2004), as amended from time to time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, written notice of any Board Meeting at which special assessments will be considered or at which amendments to rules regarding parcel use will be considered, must be mailed or delivered to the members and posted conspicuously on the property at least fourteen (14) days before the meeting.

# ARTICLE VI POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Association shall have all the powers granted to it by law, the Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation and these By-Laws, all of which powers and duties shall be exercised by its Board of Directors unless the exercise thereof is otherwise restricted by law, the Declaration, the Articles of Incorporation or these By-Laws. The powers and duties shall include but not be limited to the following:

- A. All of the powers and duties specifically provided in the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions.
- B. The power to levy and collect general, special and individual assessments.
- C. The power to expend monies collected for the purpose of paying the expenses of the Association.
- D. The power to purchase equipment, supplies and material required for the maintenance and management of the Association property.
  - E. The power to insure the buildings and improvements of the Association.
  - F. The power to pay utility bills for utilities serving the Associations' property.

- G. The power to make reasonable rules and regulations and to amend them from time to time.
- H. The power to improve the Association's property subject to the limitations of the Declaration.
- I. The power to enforce, by any legal means, the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation, the By-Laws, the Declaration and the Rules and Regulations promulgated by the Association, including the levying of fines.
- J. The power to collect delinquent assessments against the Association's property.
- K. The power to pay all taxes and assessments against the Association's property.
  - L. The power to levy late fees on delinquent assessments.
- M. The power to control and regulate all development within River Vista including the power to approve and disapprove proposed building and landscaping plans and specifications.
- N. The power to contract for security and emergency services for the protection of the Association members, their property and the Association's property.
- O. The power to select depositories for the Association's funds and to determine the manner of receiving, depositing and disbursing such funds.
- P. The power to contract with any person, firm, corporation or real estate management agent in order to provide for the maintenance, operation and repair of the Association's property. Such contract may provide that the managing agent shall be paid from time to time a reasonable fee, stated either as a fixed fee or as a percentage of the total costs of maintenance, operation and repair, or of the total funds of the Association handled or managed by the managing agent. Such fee, if any, shall be a management cost to be borne by the Association unless the contract provides to the contrary.
- Q. All other powers necessary to implement, enforce and carry into effect the powers described above including the power to acquire, hold, convey and deal in real and personal property.

## ARTICLE VII OFFICERS

A. The officers of the Association shall be as follows:

- 1. <u>President</u>. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Association and shall:
- a. act as the presiding officer at all meetings of the members of the Association and of the Board of Directors.
- b. sign, in the absence of the Treasurer (if the Board of Directors so requires) all checks, contracts, promissory notes, deeds and other instruments on behalf of the Association except those which the Board of Directors specifies may be signed by other persons.
- c. faithfully implement all policies, orders and resolutions of the Board of Directors.
  - d. act as ex-officio member of all Committees.
- 2. <u>Vice-President</u>. In the absence or disability of the President, the Vice-President shall exercise the powers and perform the duties of the President. He shall assist the President generally and exercise such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or the President.
- 3. <u>Treasurer</u>. The treasurer shall have the following powers and duties:
- a. receive such monies as shall be paid into the Association and disburse funds as may be ordered by the Board of Directors taking proper vouchers for such disbursements. He shall be the custodian of all funds, securities, contracts, leases and other important documents of the Association.
- b. supervise the keeping of the accounts of all financial transactions of the Association. He shall prepare and distribute to all of the members of the Board of Directors, whenever requested, a summary of the financial transactions and condition of the Association. He shall make a full and accurate report of financial matters to the members of the Association at the annual meeting and shall make all reports required by law.
- c. the Treasurer may have the assistance of an accountant or auditor who shall be employed by the Board of Directors. In the event the Association enters into a management agreement it shall be proper to delegate such of the Treasurer's functions to the management agent as is deemed appropriate by the Board.
- 4. <u>Secretary</u>. The Secretary shall have the following powers and duties:
- a. attend all regular and special meetings of the members of the Association and of the Board of Directors and keep all records and minutes of proceedings thereof or cause the same to be done.

- b. have custody of the corporate seal and affix the same when required.
- c. attend to all correspondence on behalf of the Association, prepare and serve notice of meetings, keep membership books.
- d. have custody of the minute book of the meetings of the members of the Association, the Board of Directors and all Committees.
- e. perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Board of Directors or by the President.
- B. The officers of the Association shall be elected by the Board of Directors at the annual meeting of the Board.
- C. A vacancy in any office due to death, resignation or other cause shall be filled by the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the terms.
  - D. All officers must be members of the Board of Directors.

## ARTICLE VIII ASSESSMENTS AND LIEN THEREFOR

- A. <u>Annual Assessment</u>. The Association, through its Board of Directors, shall have the power and authority to levy and collect an annual assessment from each owner except as otherwise provided hereinafter. The annual assessment shall be used exclusively for the purpose of promoting the recreation, health, safety and welfare of the owners and, in particular, for the improvement and maintenance of the properties, services and facilities within the Property including, without limitation, payment for maintenance of the common property, drainage facilities and roadways dedicated to the Association, payment of taxes and insurance upon property owned by the Association, the costs of security and emergency forces, the costs of operation and management of the Association, expenses and liabilities incurred by the Association in connection with the enforcement of its rights and duties against members or others, maintenance of vacant property and the occasional repurchase or lease of property and the creation of reasonable reserves.
- B. <u>Due Date of Annual Assessment</u>. The annual assessment shall be due and payable, on January 1 of each year. The annual assessment shall be based upon the estimate of the operating expenses for the year. In the event this assessment proves insufficient to satisfy such expenses the Board of Directors may levy a supplementary assessment in the amount of the deficit which supplementary assessment shall not require the assent of the members. The amount of the annual assessment may be adjusted from year to year as deemed necessary by the Board of Directors.

- C. <u>Basis for Annual Assessment</u>. The annual assessment shall be assessed at a uniform rate so that all such parcels are assessed equally.
- Special Assessments. The Board of Directors may levy a special assessment for any of following purposes: (1) the acquisition of property; (2) defraying the cost of operation and maintenance of the Common Property specifically the surface water management system and roads within the subdivision, construction of Capital Improvements to the Common Property; (3) the cost of construction, reconstruction, unexpected substantial repair or replacement of a Capital Improvement, including the necessary fixtures and personal property related thereto. Any such special assessment other than that related to a requirement imposed by a governmental regulatory body, shall require the approval of the Membership of the Association, to be obtained at a duly convened regular or special meeting called at least in part to secure this approval by an affirmative vote of no less than two-thirds (2/3) of the members present in person or by proxy. All special assessments shall be levied at a uniform rate for each single family lot so that each lot that is subject to a special assessment shall be assessed equally. Special assessments shall be collectible in such manner as the Board of Directors shall determine. Any delinquent special assessments shall bear interest at the maximum rate allowed by law from date when due until paid.
- E. <u>Individual Assessments</u>. The Association, through its Board of Directors, shall have the power and authority to levy and collect an individual assessment against an owner for the cost of repairs or replacements within or without his property, for which the owner is responsible, but which the owner has failed or refused to perform, and which failure or refusal has endangered or impaired the use or value of other properties within the property. The Association is hereby granted a right of entry onto each parcel to perform the repairs or replacements of this nature including the right to abate or eliminate any nuisance. Individual assessments shall be collectible in such manner as the Board of Directors shall determine.
- F. <u>Effect of Non-Payment of Assessments</u>. If any assessment is not paid on the date when due, it shall then become delinquent and shall bear interest at the maximum rate allowed by law from the date when due until paid. The assessment, together with interest thereon, late fees and the cost of collection thereof, shall become a continuing lien on the property against which such assessment is made. The lien shall bind the property in the hands of the then owner, his heirs, devisees, personal representatives and assigns and shall also be the continuing personal obligation of the owner against whom the assessment is levied. Any successor in title shall be held to constructive notice of the records of the Association to determine the existence of any delinquency in the payment of assessment. Such information may be obtained from the Association at its address set forth hereinabove.

If the assessment shall not be paid within thirty (30) days from the due date, the assessment shall bear interest from the date of delinquency at the Statutory Rate of interest. Additionally, the Association may charge a reasonable late fee as determined by the Board of Directors. The Association may bring an action to foreclose the lien against the property and/or a suit on the personal obligation against the owner and

there shall be added to the amount of the assessment the costs of preparing and filing a complaint in such action (including reasonable attorneys' fees) and, in the event a judgment is obtained, such judgment shall include interest on the assessment as provided above and reasonable attorneys' fees to be fixed by the Court together with the cost of the action.

G. <u>Additional Assessments</u>. The assessments provided for hereinabove shall be in addition to all other assessments which may be levied by any other homeowners association within River Vista.

## ARTICLE IX FISCAL MANAGEMENT

- A. <u>Fiscal Year</u>. The fiscal year of the Association shall begin on the first day of January of each year or on such other date as shall be adopted by the Board of Directors.
- B. Depositories. The funds of the Association shall be deposited in United States Bank Accounts, money market funds, certificates of deposit, securities and other similar investment accounts, in an account for the Association, under resolutions approved by the Board of Directors and shall be withdrawn only over the signature of the Treasurer, the President or such other persons as the Board may authorize. The Board may require more than one (1) signature on checks and bank drafts. Association funds shall not be deposited in foreign accounts, United States accounts only.
- C. <u>Fidelity Bonds</u>. Fidelity Bonds may be required by the Board of Directors from officers and employees of the Association and from any contractor handling or responsible for corporate funds. The premium for such bonds shall be paid by the Association.
- D. Records. The Association shall maintain accounting records according to generally accepted accounting principles. Such records shall include a record of receipt and encumbrances for each member which shall designate the name and address of the member, the amount of each assessment, the due dates, the amounts paid upon the account and the balance due.
- E. <u>Accounts</u>. The receipts and expenditures of the Association shall be created and charged to such accounts as the Board of Directors shall deem appropriate.
- F. <u>Budget</u>. The Board of Directors shall adopt a budget for each fiscal year that shall include the estimated funds required to defray the expenses and to provide and maintain funds for each account and reserves in accordance with good accounting practices. Each member shall be provided with a copy of the annual budget or a written notice that a copy of the budget is available upon request at no charge to the member as required by Florida Statute §720.303(6)(2004), as amended from time to time.

G. Annual Financial Report. An Annual Financial Report will be prepared in accordance with Florida Statute §720.303(7)(2004) as amended from time to time within sixty (60) days after the close of the fiscal year. Each member shall be provided with a copy of the annual financial report or a written notice that a copy is available upon request at no charge to the member.

### ARTICLE X AMENDMENT

These By-Laws may be amended, altered or repealed by a vote of the majority of those members present in person or by proxy at any regular or special meeting of the members.

## ARTICLE XI ENFORCEMENT

The Association, by direction of the Board of Directors, shall have the right to enforce, by a proceeding at law or in equity, all restrictions, conditions, covenants, reservations and liens now or hereafter imposed by the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions, these By-Laws or the Rules and Regulations of the Association.

# ARTICLE XII VALIDITY

If any By-Law, rule or regulation shall be judged invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the validity of any other By-Law, rule or regulation.

# ARTICLE XIII PROCEDURE

Robert Rules of Order (latest edition) shall govern the conduct of all meetings of the members and of the Board of Directors.

# ARTICLE XIV CONSTRUCTION CONSISTENT WITH DECLARATION

In case of ambiguity, these By-Laws and the Articles of Incorporation of the Association shall be construed consistent with the provisions of the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions.

In case of any conflict between the Articles of Incorporation of the Association and these By-Laws, the Articles of Incorporation shall govern and control. In case of any conflict between the Declaration and these By-Laws, the said Declaration shall govern and control.

WE HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Amended and Restated By-Laws of River Vista Homeowners Association, Inc. were duly adopted by a majority vote of those members present, in person or by proxy, at a duly constituted meeting of the members held on February 7, 2005.

#### EXHIBIT "A"

The following Lots, all situated in St. Lucie County, as shown on the REPLAT OF RIVER VISTA, according to the plat thereof recorded in Plat Book 29, at Page 3 and 3A, of the Public Records of St. Lucie County, Florida:

Block	<u>Lots</u>
3	Lots 1 through 8
4	Lots 1 through 12
5	Lots 1 through 16
6	Lots 1 through 18
7	Lots 1 through 8

TOTAL NUMBER OF LOTS - 62 Lots

#### EXHIBIT "B"

The following Lots, all situated in St. Lucie County, as shown on the PLAT OF RIVER VISTA, as recorded in Plat Book 13, Page 18-18A of the Public Records of St. Lucie County, Florida:

<u>BLOCK</u>	<u>LOTS</u>
1 2	Lots 1 through 10 Lots 1 through 5

TOTAL NUMBER OF LOTS – 15 Lots